NPS Form 10-900 (Oct. 1990)

National Park Service

Signature of Keeper of Action

OMB No. 10024-0018

NOV 1 9 1999

RECEIVED

1564

OCT 1 8 1999

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES REGISTRATION FORM

United States Department of the Interior

OHP

	OHP	
1. Name of Property		
historic name: <u>Colfax Freight Depot</u> other name/site number: Colfax Freight House, Colfax Fre	ight Office and Warehouse, The Auto Parts	Store
2. Location		
street & number: 7 Main Street city/town: Colfax		not for publication
	/: Placer code: 061	zip code: <u>95713</u>
3. State/Federal Agency Certification		
As the designated authority under the National Historic II nomination request for determination of eligibility representation of Historic Places and meets the procedure opinion, the property with meets does not meet the National Historic Places and meets the procedure opinion, the property with meets does not meet the National Historic Places and Interval Historic Preservation Signature of certifying official California Office of Historic Preservation State or Federal agency and bureau In my opinion, the property meets does not signature of commenting or other official	meets the documentation standards for registerial and professional requirements set forth in 36 ional Register-criteria. I recommend that this procontinuation sheet for additional comments.) Move	ing properties in the CFR Part 60. In my operty be considered 7. 16, 1999 Date
State or Federal agency and bureau		
4. National Park Service Certification	2	
I hereby certify that this property is: I entered in the National Register See continuation sheet. I determined eligible for the National Register See continuation sheet. I determined not eligible for National Register removed from the National Register other (explain):	San H. Beall	12/17/99

Date

5. Classi	ification				
	nip of Property s many boxes as may apply) private public-local public-State public-Federal	Category of Property (check only one box) building(s) district site structure object	Number of Reso Contributing 1 0 0 0 1	Noncontributing O O O O O O O O O O O O O	buildings sites structures objects Total
(Enter "N	of related multiple property list	multiple property listing)	Number of in the Nation	contributing resources nal Register	previously listed
Historic (Enter c	: Functions categories from instructions) PORTATION/rail-related = freig	ght house		ons es from instructions) pecialty store = auto p	earts store
7. Descr	iption				
(Enter ca	tural Classification ategories from instructions)		foundation Coroof SI walls W	es from instructions) oncrete ningle /eatherboard	

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number	 Page #	1	Property Name	Colfax Freight Depot

SUMMARY

The Central Pacific Railroad (CP) built the extant Colfax Freight Depot around 1880 (Mullaly 1999). This freight depot was moved first in 1905 to the location of the original Colfax passenger depot and then was moved again in the 1920s due to a track realignment and addition of a second main line. The freight depot was constructed of wood using a standard railroad design exhibiting the Victorian-era Stick style (Bender 1998b; McAlester & McAlester 1984:254-261). While it is possible that this freight depot's design was used for other freight houses built by CP and other railroads that were part of the Southern Pacific (SP) Lines, most freight houses were retired and removed (often razed) during the past 50 years (Bender 1999; Mullaly 1999). Fewer freight houses have survived than combination depots (depots with adjoined passenger and freight facilities) (Bender 1999). The Colfax Freight Depot appears to be the only freight depot remaining in Placer County.

ARCHITECTURAL DETAIL

The Colfax Freight Depot is a one-story, rectangular, gable-roofed building that was completed in the Stick style (Bender 1998b:30; McAlester & McAlester 1984:254-261). The freight depot was built using an SP-CP standard design plan, known as Freight House No. 2 (Bender 1998b:30; 1999). Renovations to the exterior and interior plan were made circa 1970s and the roof surfacing materials were replaced circa 1985 (Weiss 1999). The building, not including the surrounding platform, measures 26 feet east-west by 125 feet north-south (Southern Pacific Company n.d.). Its east side faces toward the present railroad tracks, and its west side faces toward Main Street.

The building is of wood frame construction and appears to be supported by a wood post and concrete pier foundation. All original connections were made with nails. The exterior framing includes six-inch square corner posts and two-inch by five- or six-inch studs with bridging. The roof framing includes braced king post trusses with principal rafters that are set from 16 to 30 inches on center. The principal rafter members measure four inches by six inches (4×6) or two inches by six inches (2×6) and are set in a one-two-one repetition $(4 \times 6 - 2 \times 6 - 4 \times 6)$.

The exterior wall surface materials include (from bottom to top) original one-foot-high baseboards and jointed horizontal wood board siding, each piece being seven and three-quarter inches high. The original baseboards were removed and replaced circa 1970s (Weiss 1999) with newer nine-inch-high baseboards on the full width of the south side, most of the west side, and a small portion of the east (railroad) side's north end. Due to the existence of original baseboards, the newer shorter baseboards represent a reversible change. Vertical and horizontal stickwork, made of nine-inch-wide boards with chamfered edges, emphasizes the framing along the sides of and above the building's original fenestration. Wood corner boards that measure nine inches on each side are located on all corners of the building.

The gable roof is surfaced with wood shingles. The original rooftop material (wood shingles) was replaced at least twice; by the 1930 it was surfaced with composition sheets, and around 1985 it was surfaced in wood shingles again (Sanborn Map Company 1898, 1930; Weiss 1999). As per old photographs, decorative finials that were located at the north and south ends of the roof, were removed, probably during a roof surface replacement. A brick chimney that once projected from the roof, was also removed (Anonymous 1912; California State Railroad Museum 1999). The south gable end includes a rectangular wood louvered vent.

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number	 Page # _	 Property Name	Colfax Freight Depot

The building has wide overhanging open eaves and rakes with wood fascia boards. The undersides of the eaves and rakes exhibit plywood boards supported by exposed rafters. The plywood boards were set in place circa 1985 (Weiss 1999). Wood braces support the overhanging eaves and rakes; the east and west (eaves) sides' braces are more elaborate than those of the north and south sides, being of a crossed-type design. The east and west sides each have 16 crossed braces, the north side has eight braces and the south side has six. The number of braces at the north and south sides (gable ends) corresponds to the number of vertical stickwork members and corner boards on each of these sides.

Fenestration of the building includes wood sash windows and loading bay sliding doors. All single-sash windows are identical, appear on the north side of the building in a 1912 photograph, and may be original to the building (Anonymous 1912); the single-sash windows on the east side are not depicted on the Freight House No. 2 diagram sheet, but may have been an on-site addition during the original construction of the building (Southern Pacific Company n.d.). All double-hung windows are identical, appear on the south side of the building in a 1911 photograph, and may be original to the building (Anonymous 1911). The north side of the building has a band of three single-sash windows, each with eight-light glazing, and the south side consists of three identical wood sash, double-hung, four over four windows.

The east (railroad) side has two double hung windows (identical to those on the north side), two single-sash windows (identical to those on the south side) and three original loading bay openings with their original wooden doors that slide on interior overhead metal tracks. A modern doorway with a metal door was added just south of the northernmost bay door. The middle loading bay door is hidden from the exterior behind a rectangular, shed-roofed addition. The addition is centrally set between the sixth roof support bracket in from the north and south ends of the building, and includes wide board and thin batten siding, corrugated roof surfacing, and a modern wood door on the north side. All modern fenestration and the addition to this side, probably installed in the 1970s, represent reversible changes (Weiss 1999).

The west (street) side has three original loading bay openings. The original sliding door of the northernmost bay was removed and the area infilled to include a modern metal-framed, glazed double door; extra space was infilled and surfaced on the exterior with siding to match the original siding. The middle bay is unchanged and includes the original sliding door. The southern bay has been infilled to include a modern metal-framed window area; extra space was infilled with siding. A modern, metal-framed, glazed double door and metal sash window were added at the south end; it is probable that an original door or window (suggested by remains of stickwork above) was removed in order to add the metal sash window. All modern fenestration on the west side, probably completed in the 1970s, represent reversible changes (Weiss 1999).

The four original sliding doors (three on the east side and one of the west side) are identical and made of vertical stiles, a central vertical muntin and a top, middle and bottom rail (the horizontal members). The four panels contain vertical beaded boards. The middle rail and muntin of each slider door are each routed on their two facing-side edges and the top and bottom rails and the stiles are routed on the interior facing-side edges. These doors include original iron handles on their interior and/or exterior sides.

The building has a wrap-around wood loading platform supported on the wood-post-and-concrete-pier foundation. Reportedly, the majority of the original planks that created the platform floor have been replaced with planks of similar dimensions to the originals (Weiss 1999). Wood boards affixed along the outer edge obstruct the foundation from view. The extant platform measures nine feet deep on the north and west sides, nine feet, six inches on the south side and ten feet on the east (railroad) side.

The platform is accessed by a six-riser wooden stair at the south side, a four- and a six-riser wooden stair on the east side, a three- and a four-riser wooden stair on the west side, and a wooden ramp on the north side. All accessways to the platform are modern additions and most include metal railings. The section of platform at the north end of the building

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section	number		Page #	3	1	roperty Nam	e Conax	Freight D	epot	 	
		······································								 	

includes a concrete wall foundation support at the north side and a modern railing-height enclosure surfaced with plywood boards. The metal-surfaced loading area is atop the west side's platform, adjacent to the western bay opening, as is probably a modern addition.

The interior plan of this building was modified approximately 25 years ago for use as an auto parts store (Weiss 1999). The building originally consisted of four spaces – a 25-foot by 15-foot office space, a 15-foot by 12-foot bedroom, a 12-foot by approximately 5-foot storage room, and an approximately 25-foot by 99-foot, one-half-inch freight warehouse space. The office included a counter that divided the public area from the worker's area. A fireplace (or stove) with a chimney was located in the office (Southern Pacific Company n.d.). As a result of modifications, the interior partition walls of the original office, bedroom and storage room were removed and the area was reworked to include a sales space, bathrooms, and storage. The fireplace (or stove) was removed and a decorative plate covers the remaining flue (or stove pipe) hole in the ceiling of the office area. An attic storage area extends from the south end of the building to the approximate middle of the warehouse space.

The area that was the office space retains original surface materials. The walls and ceiling of this area are surfaced with beaded boards. The area includes sections with original one-foot-high baseboards and sections with three-and-one-half-inch-high replacement baseboards. A simple picture molding (also called a cornice molding), encircles the room and is probably original. The original flooring, probably wood boards, has been covered or removed and replaced with one-foot by one-foot vinyl tiles. The original counter has been removed and a modern counter is set at the north side of the area.

The area that originally included the bedroom and storage room was reworked to provide office space and bathrooms for the store employees. Some original wall surfacing (beaded boards) as well as modern vinyl flooring, and partition walls are extant in this space. The southeastern portion of the space consists of two equal-sized small rooms. Both rooms include walls and ceilings that are surfaced with beaded boards. Reportedly, both of these small rooms had been constructed to house bathroom facilities. Any bathroom fixtures (i.e., toilet, sink) of the southernmost small room were removed for the areas newest use as a small office. The northern bathroom includes a small sink and a toilet; an old toilet was removed and replaced around 1996 (Weiss 1999).

The walls and ceiling of the warehouse are unfinished with structural members (i.e., studs, six-inch-square corner posts, bridging, and king post trusses) left open to the interior. An original weigh scale is reportedly located just inside the extant original bay door on the west side, but is covered over with modern flooring (Weiss 1999).

The attic, accessed by a wooden staircase located inside the warehouse space, includes modifications at the north end. The flooring in the attic consists of older wood planking at the south end and newer plywood boards at the north end.

Although the freight depot includes modifications to both the interior and exterior, enough of the building's original fabric has been retained and the modifications are not irreversible. The elements (i.e., stickwork, braces, sliding doors) contributing to the building's original architectural style have been maintained to a notable degree.

8. Statement of Significance **Applicable National Register Criteria** Areas of Significance (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying (Enter categories from instructions) the property for National Register listing.) TRANSPORTATION ARCHITECTURE \boxtimes A Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history. В Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past. Period of Significance ⊠ c Property embodies the distinctive circa 1880 - 1945 characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or represents the work of a **Significant Dates** master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable N/A entity whose components lack individual distinction. Significant Person Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, (Complete if Criterion B is marked above) information important in prehistory or history. N/A Criteria Considerations (Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply) **Cultural Affiliation** owned by a religious institution or used for N/A religious purposes. ⊠ B removed from its original location. Architect/Builder a birthplace or grave. Central Pacific Railroad Company a cemetery. Ε a reconstructed building, object, or structure. a commemorative property. less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years. Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more

continuation sheets.)

9. Major B	ibliographic	al References			
Bibliograph (Cite the b	•	es, and other so	urces used in preparing th	is form on one or more cor	ntinuation sheets.)
Previou	s document	ation on file (N	PS):	Primary Location of Addi	tional Data:
	CFR 67) had previously previously Register designated recorded by #	is been requeste listed in the Nat determined eligi a National Hist y Historic Amer	tional Register Table by the National Oric Landmark Tican Buildings Survey Tican Engineering Record	Placer County Tax Asse	nt nent of Parks and Museums, essor's Office, California State ate Railroad Museum Research
10. Geogra	aphical Data	1			
Acreage of	f Property _	Approximately	1.3 Acres		
UTM Refer		references on a	continuation sheet.)		
	Zone	Easting	Northing		
	10	677900	4329750		
				☐ See continuation shee	t
Assessor's Pacific rail 000 and G Boundary here durin	s Parcel Nun road tracks irass Valley Justification g the buildi	nber (APN) 006 to the east, AP Street to the so The Colfax I ng's period of	-043-007-000. This port N 006-043-013-000 to thouth. Freight Depot has been so	ion of the aforementioned le north, Main Street to the et in this location for over aries of this portion of AP	estern portion of Placer County parcel is bounded by the Union e west, and APN 006-071-010- 50 years, having been moved PN 006-043-007-000 allow the
11. Form I	Prepared By				
Name/Title	e: Tracy (Bakic, Cultural F	Resources Specialist		
Organizatio	on: <u>PAR E</u>	NVIRONMENTA	L SERVICES, INC.		Date: May 21, 1999
Street & N	lumber: 19	906 21 st Street			Telephone: (916)739-8356
City or To	wn: <u>Sac</u>	ramento	State	: _CA	ZIP: <u>95814</u>

NPS Form 10-900-a (8-86)

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number _	88	Page # _	1	Property Name	Colfax Freight Depot

SUMMARY

Freight shipping and distribution was an important activity along the CP and other railroads associated with the SP Lines. As a result, depots and freight houses became important and familiar structures along these railroads and to the citizens in towns served by the railroads throughout the Western states. With the passing of the railroad's less-than-carload (LCL) freight era, these freight houses have become an architectural legacy of the SP Lines' once-central role in the West's economic development. The Colfax Freight Depot is one of the few visible reminders of the importance of LCL freight in the nation (Bender 1999).

The Colfax Freight Depot was built by the Central Pacific Railroad Company using an SP-CP design and served as a shipping and receiving focal point in Colfax from circa 1880 to 1945. The freight depot appears to be eligible for inclusion in the National Register of Historic Places at a local level of significance under the following criteria: Criterion A for its association with the railroad and the freight industry that proved instrumental to the economic development of Colfax; and Criterion C as the only example of this type of SP railroad building in Placer County. It retains its integrity of setting, association, design, materials, and workmanship to a notable degree.

HISTORICAL CONTEXT

CP, the western half of the transcontinental railroad, dramatically enhanced the economy and development at stations and depots constructed along its line. The stop at Colfax (originally called Illinoistown), located in Placer County, California, was no exception.

CP constructed the railroad eastward from Sacramento to Illinoistown from 1863 to 1865. California Governor Leland Stanford renamed Illinoistown to honor United States Speaker of the House of Representatives Schuyler Colfax, who visited the area in 1865 (California, State of 1990:84). In anticipation of the railroad, a new section of town was planned around the new railroad grounds. Lots were advertised in nearby town newspapers and sold on July 29, 1865 (*Grass Valley Union* 1865b). Businesses that had been associated with Illinoistown and nearby Alder Grove quickly moved to the newly laid-out town center at Colfax, and the post office name was changed to reflect the new designation (Ogden et al. 1992:31).

The CP tracks reached Colfax on September 1, 1865 and train service between Sacramento and Colfax began three days later. For several months, the new town of Colfax bustled with activity as an important construction supply depot and stage connection stop. The town's location in the Sierra Nevada foothills made it a staging place for the massive undertaking of crossing the imposing mountains to the east (California, State of 1990:84; *The Colfax Sentinel* 1965:B-3; Ogden et al. 1992:31). In 1867, even after the railhead had moved east, Colfax remained the largest transshipment point between Sacramento and Reno for both incoming and outgoing freight (Mullaly 1999).

Between 1874 and 1876, the Nevada County Narrow Gauge Railroad (NCNG) was built to connect Colfax with the cities of Grass Valley and Nevada City. The NCNG first ran from Colfax to Grass Valley on April 20, 1876. At nearly the same time, a major fire destroyed a large portion of Colfax. By the early 1880s, however, Colfax had been rebuilt (Clark 1979:39; *The Colfax Sentinel* 1965:B-3; Gudde 1975:77; Jones 1980:15-16; Ogden et al. 1992:32). It was around this time that the extant freight depot was probably built, replacing an earlier one. This depot was used for the shipping and distribution of railroad and mining supplies, gold, and fruit (Wayland 1999).

CP was merged with the Southern Pacific Company on June 30, 1959. The public, though, had known the CP to be part of the SP Lines since the 1880s, and by the 1940s the two lines were practically indistinguishable (Bender 1999; Dunscomb 1963:375).

Fruit production also began developing on a commercial scale during the 1880s throughout the foothill region of Placer County. While peaches and apples were initially most successful, within 50 years other profitable produce such as Tokay

NPS Form 10-900-a (8-86)

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number	8	Page # _	2	Property Name Colfax Freight Depot
----------------	---	----------	---	------------------------------------

grapes, prunes, and Bartlett pears began to appear. Colfax soon proved to be an important shipping center for these crops (Jones 1980:11; Ogden et al. 1992:32). Fruit from Nevada County was shipped to Colfax on the NCNG. In its prime years, Placer County boasted 30,000 acres of orchards (*The Colfax Sentinel* 1965:C-6).

The earliest fruit shipping organization in Colfax was formed in 1890 (*The Colfax Sentinel* 1965:C-6). Pacific Fruit Express (PFE), was organized in 1906 to supply and manage many of the refrigerator cars for the shipment of fruit by rail. PFE operated across North America (Thompson et al. 1992:308-315). In the mid-1920s, PFE constructed an icing platform in Colfax along the main track below the SP roundhouse (Sanborn Map Company 1930). PFE owned the platform, which was built on land it leased from the SP. This platform was one of 23 platforms in the Central District, which encompassed the west coast SP line (Thompson et al. 1992:308-315). For the next several years refrigerator cars handling local fruit and produce were iced at Colfax as well as at Roseville or Sparks, Nevada (Jones 1980:11; Ogden et al. 1992:32).

By the early 1900s, railroad passenger service provided 98 percent of all intercity transportation in the United States. As a result of mode's popularity, the SP passenger depot in Colfax became familiar and important as the town's main transportation center (Bender 1998).

Throughout the 1920s Colfax maintained its association with the railroad with the construction of a roundhouse (also called an enginehouse) and numerous side lines. As the Lincoln Highway began heading east, much as the railroad had before it, Colfax gained new accessibility. By 1924, the town of Colfax boasted numerous homes and businesses, a bank, schools, and two churches. Colfax's population rose and fell with railroad activity. When the SP temporarily closed the Colfax roundhouse in 1930, 33 men were laid off. In 1936, the PFE closed its icing platform at Colfax, reducing fruit shipping activity at Colfax (Hoover et al. 1990:264; Jones 1980:12; Ogden et al. 1992:32).

The SP continued as an important source of transportation for Colfax up to and through World War II. After 1945, however, the increase in private automobiles and intensive development of California's highway network led to a decrease in passenger train use by the general public. The SP permanently closed the Colfax roundhouse in 1949. The roundhouse was razed in 1951. In 1996, SP merged with Union Pacific Railroad. Today, Colfax continues its traditional transportation economy via the railroad and on Interstate 80 (I-80). In addition to fruit, the town also remains an important shipping point for lumber (Hoover et al. 1990:264; Jones 1980:12; Ogden et al. 1992:32).

Railroad Freight Depot Construction History

The Central Pacific Railroad Company built the Colfax Freight Depot circa 1880. The extant building's depiction on a pre-1886 station plan and comparison with details (i.e., triple window bands) of Two Story Combination Depot No. 12, as built in 1880 at both San Simon, Arizona and Lordsburg, New Mexico, aided in arriving at a circa 1880 construction date (Pacific Railroad Company n.d.; Mullaly 1999). It replaced a larger CP freight house that was built in 1865 (Mullaly 1999; *The Placer Herald 1865*:2). The earliest clear depiction of the circa 1880 freight depot is on an undated station plan that was revised in 1886; the freight depot was drawn on the map before the revision date (Pacific Railroad Company n.d.). The circa 1880 freight depot was initially located on Main Street to the west side of the CP tracks at their intersection with Grass Valley Street (Pacific Railroad Company n.d.; Sanborn Map Company 1898). This building also served as the terminus for the NCNG railroad tracks west of the SP tracks. The NCNG railroad owned a long freight shed and platform that joined with the north end of the freight depot platform (Sanborn Map Company 1898, 1907, 1910).

The Colfax Freight Depot made use of a standard freight house design. By the 1860s, most major railroads, such as CP and SP, used standard architectural plans for their passenger and freight structures. Common standards provided more efficiency by eliminating architectural and planning costs, permitting the railroad to simply pick the appropriate building(s) for each stop from the current standard designs. The Colfax Freight Depot was built according to Freight House No. 2 on old diagram sheets and represents one of four standard freight house plans created by Southern Pacific. The design incorporated Stick-style elements on the exterior (Bender 1998a:11-12 and 1998b:30; Southern Pacific Company n.d.).

NPS Form 10-900-a (8-86)

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 8 Page # 3 Property Name Colfax Freight Depot	
--	--

Old photographs suggest that an earlier color scheme for the freight depot's exterior was light-colored walls with dark trim, which accentuated the Stick style design (Anonymous 1912; California State Railroad Museum Library 1999). The roof was surfaced with wood shingles. The interior consisted of two main spaces – an office at the northern end and the freight warehouse at the southern end). Early maintenance work on the freight depot included repainting its interior and exterior in 1896 (*The Colfax Sentinel* 1896:3)

In February 1905, the local newspaper announced plans that included building a new passenger depot and moving the existing freight depot with the adjoining NCNG platform to the east side of the tracks to occupy the site of the old passenger depot (*The Colfax Sentinel* 1905a:1). By May 1905, these plans were approved (*The Colfax Sentinel* 1905b:1). Before the freight depot was moved to the new site, the old passenger depot burned down. As a result, the Western Union and SP telegraph offices relocated to the freight office for a short time (*The Colfax Sentinel* 1905c:1).

A large amount of gravel was hauled to the site of the old passenger depot and was used to make piers to support the freight depot and platform. Having been moved piece by piece, the freight depot was completely set in its new location by November 17, 1905. The platform was moved in sections to be rejoined to the depot shortly after (*The Colfax Sentinel* 1905d:1, 1905e:1, 1905f:1). The freight depot was now located opposite the north half of the Main Street business block between Depot and Grass Valley streets and had been turned so that the office space was at the southern end and the warehouse was at the northern end. As a result of this move, the NCNG rails no longer had to cross the SP tracks to reach freight loading areas in Colfax (*The Colfax Sentinel* 1905g:1).

By 1930, the railroad tracks through Colfax were realigned and a new main line was added. As a result of this work, the freight depot was moved back to the west side of the tracks to be set opposite the south half of the aforementioned business block (Sanborn Map Company 1930; Southern Pacific Co. 1945). The building was set on concrete piers just as before. The long NCNG platform was not rebuilt. It was probably around this time that the roof surface was replaced or covered over with composition sheets.

Since the last move, the freight depot has been repainted, the original chimney removed, a shed-roofed addition made to the east side, platform boards replaced, some fenestration and baseboards removed and modern replacements added, and the interior modified. The building was retired from railroad use in 1963, and most of the above-mentioned changes were made in the 1970s to accommodate its current commercial use (Bender 1998b:30; Weiss 1999). The roof surface was completely replaced in the mid-1990s to be, once again, surfaced with wood shingles (Weiss 1999).

Criterion A

Freight shipping and distribution was an important activity along the SP lines, including the CP rails. As a result, depots and freight houses became important and familiar structures along these railroads and to the citizens in towns served by the railroads throughout the Western states. The 1880 Colfax Freight Depot was associated with the CP and NCNG railroads and the freight industry that, together, proved successful to the prosperity of Colfax. This freight depot is an important local representative of the town's historical dependence on the railroad as their prime transportation mode. As such, the railroad and its freight depot were instrumental in the economic development and success of Colfax.

Criterion C

The Colfax Freight Depot was constructed circa 1880 using a standard-design plan known as Freight House No. 2 (Southern Pacific Company n.d.). The design exhibited the early Victorian Stick style, which is distinguished by the use of horizontal and vertical exterior stickwork and wide overhanging eaves and rakes with brace supports. At least three of the many other SP freight houses were built around the same time as the Colfax Freight Depot and were located in Marysville, California, Deming, New Mexico and El Paso, Texas; all were of different plan types than the freight house in Colfax and all three no longer exist (Bender 1998b:30). The circa 1890s Rocklin Passenger Depot closely paralleled the Colfax Freight Depot in style and ornamentation (i.e., rooftop finials) but, just as the three above-mentioned freight depots, it no longer exists (Bakic,

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number _	88	Page # _	4	Property Name	e Colfax Freight Depot	

Baker, and Maniery 1997). The Colfax Freight Depot is the only example of its kind in Placer County and is a representative of SP's architectural legacy in the west.

Integrity

The original design, workmanship and materials of the Colfax Freight Depot are evident and previously-made modifications, especially to the exterior, are not irreversible. The structure retains its original mass and shape. The freight depot was moved twice by the railroad company within its period of significance but has not been moved since. These moves were all within railroad property and were undertaken in connection with railroad activities. The depot is located along the tracks and the sense of time, place, setting, and association with the railroad and its environment is still intact. As a result of the above, the Colfax Freight Depot retains sufficient integrity to qualify for inclusion in the National Register.

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 9 Page # 1 Property Name Colfax Freight Depot

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Anonymous

- 1911 Photograph entitled "Additions Second Track, Colfax to Blue Canyon/Colfax Yards View from opp. "H" 1478." On file, California State Railroad Museum Library, Sacramento.
- 1912 Photograph of the Colfax Freight Depot. In Henry Bender's article entitled "Southern Pacific Lines Standard Design Depots, Part 2" in *SP Trainline*, Winter 1998, Page 30, edited by John Signor (Southern Pacific Historical and Technical Society). On file, California State Railroad Museum Library, Sacramento.

Bakic, T. D., C. L. Baker, and M. L. Maniery

1997 Historic Architectural Survey Report for the Proposed Rocklin Rail/Multimodal Station Project, Rocklin, Placer County, California. On file, North Central Information Center, California State University, Sacramento.

Bean, W. and J. J. Rawls

1983 California: An Interpretive History. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.

Bender, H. E.

- 1998a Southern Pacific Lines Standard Design Depots, Part 1. In SP Trainline, Fall 1998, edited by John Signor (Southern Pacific Historical and Technical Society). On file, California State Railroad Museum Library, Sacramento.
- 1998b Southern Pacific Lines Standard Design Depots, Part 2. In *SP Trainline*, Winter 1998, edited by John Signor (Southern Pacific Historical and Technical Society). On file, California State Railroad Museum Library, Sacramento.
- 1999 Personal Communication with Tracy Bakic, PAR Environmental Services, Inc., dated April, May, and June 1999.

California, State of

1990 California Historical Landmarks (updates to 1995). State Office of Historic Preservation, Sacramento.

California State Railroad Museum

1999 Colfax Photographs. On file, California State Railroad Museum, Sacramento.

Central Pacific Railroad Company

n.d. Pre-1886 Station Plan for Colfax, California. The original date of the plan is unknown; corrections to the plan are dated 1886. In *Station Plans C.P.R.R. – Sacramento to Humbolt*. On file, California State Railroad Museum Library, Sacramento.

Clark, W. B.

1979 Gold Districts of California. California Division of Mines and Geology Bulletin 193. Sacramento.

The Colfax Sentinel

- 1896 "The Southern Pacific Company is making many improvements . . ." *The Colfax Sentinel*, January 1, 1896, Vol. 7, No. 2, p. 3. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1905a Colfax Will Have a New Depot. *The Colfax Sentinel*, February 17, 1905. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES **CONTINUATION SHEET**

Section number _	9	Page #	2	Property Name	Colfax Freight Depot	

- 1905b New Depot is Assured. The Colfax Sentinel, May 19, 1905. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1905c Depot Burned Last Tuesday. The Colfax Sentinel, September 29, 1905. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1905d Rushing the Work. The Colfax Sentinel, October 6, 1905. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1905e Turntable Has Arrived. The Colfax Sentinel, October 27, 1905. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1905f Nearing Completion. The Colfax Sentinel, November 17, 1905. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1905g Will No Longer Cross the S. P. The Colfax Sentinel, December 1, 1905. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.

Dunscomb, G. L.

1963 A Century of Southern Pacific Steam Locomotives. Published by the author, Modesto, California.

Grass Valley Union

- 1865a The Pacific Railroad. Grass Valley Union, January 10, 1865. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1865b "Colfax." Advertisement. Grass Valley Union, July 25, 1865. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.

Gudde, E. G.

1975 California Gold Camps. Elisabeth K. Gudde, editor. University of California Press, Berkeley.

Hoover, M. B., H. E. Rensch, E. G. Rensch, and W. N. Abeloe

1990 Historic Spots in California. Revised edition edited by D. E. Kyle. Stanford University Press, Stanford.

Jones, P.

1980 The Colfax Connection: A History of Colfax. Pony Express Printers, Auburn, California.

McAlester, V. and L. McAlester

1984 A Field Guide to American Houses. Alfred A. Knopf, New York.

Mullaly, L.

1999 Personal communication with Tracy Bakic, PAR Environmental Services, Inc., dated May 1999.

Ogden Environmental and Energy Services Co., Inc., Archaeological Inc., Foothill Resources Ltd., and Stewart/Gerike, Consultants

1992 Historical, Architectural, and Archaeological Resources of Placer County, California. Vol. 1. Prepared for Placer County, Department of Museums, Auburn, California.

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 9	Page #	3	Property Name Colfax Freight Depot
------------------	--------	---	------------------------------------

The Placer Herald

1865 "Colfax, the present terminus of the Pacific Railroad..." *The Placer Herald*, September 30, 1865, Vol. 14, No. 5, p. 2. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.

Sanborn Map Company

- 1898 Fire Insurance Map of Colfax, Cal. Sanborn Map Co., New York. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1907 Fire Insurance Map of Colfax, Cal. Sanborn Map Co., New York. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1910 Fire Insurance Map of Colfax, Cal. Sanborn Map Co., New York. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.
- 1930 Fire Insurance Map of Colfax, Cal. Sanborn Map Co., New York. On file, California History Room, California State Library, Sacramento.

Southern Pacific Company

- n.d. Diagram Sheet-Freight House No. 2. On file, Oregon Historical Society, Portland.
- 1945 Station Plan of Colfax, Placer County, Sacramento Division. On file, California State Railroad Museum, Sacramento.

Thompson, A., R. Church and B. Jones

1992 Pacific Fruit Express. Central Valley Railroad Publications, Wilton, CA. On file, California State Railroad Museum, Sacramento, CA.

Wayland, H.

1999 Colfax Area Historic Society. Personal communication with Tracy Bakic, PAR Environmental Services, Inc., dated April 29, 1999.

Weiss, R.

1999 Current Owner. Personal communication with Tracy Bakic, PAR Environmental Services, Inc., dated March 16, 1999.

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number	N/A	Page #1	Property Name Colfax Freight Depot

All photographs listed below are of the Colfax Freight Depot, located on Main Street and west of the Union Pacific tracks in Colfax, Placer County, California. These photos were taken on March 16, 1999 by Tracy Bakic of PAR Environmental Services, Inc. The corresponding negatives to these photographs area located at PAR Environmental Services, Inc., Sacramento, California.

Photograph #1

- 3. Tracy Bakic
- 4. 03/16/1999
- 5. PAR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC., P.O. Box 160756, Sacramento, CA 95816-0756.
- 6. View looking north of the south and east (railroad) sides of the Freight Depot.

Photograph #2

- 3. Tracy Bakic
- 4. 03/16/1999
- 5. PAR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC., P.O. Box 160756, Sacramento, CA 95816-0756.
- 6. View looking north of the south and east (railroad) sides of the Freight Depot.

Photograph #3

- 3. Tracy Bakic
- 4. 03/16/1999
- 5. PAR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC., P.O. Box 160756, Sacramento, CA 95816-0756.
- 6. View looking northeast of south and west sides the Freight Depot.

Photograph #4

- 3. Tracy Bakic
- 4. 03/16/1999
- 5. PAR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC., P.O. Box 160756, Sacramento, CA 95816-0756.
- 6. View looking south of the north and west sides of the Freight Depot.

Photograph #5

- 3. Tracy Bakic
- 4. 03/16/1999
- 5. PAR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC., P.O. Box 160756, Sacramento, CA 95816-0756.
- View looking west of the north and east (railroad) sides of the Freight Depot; note the roof brace details.

Photograph #6

- 3. Tracy Bakic
- 4. 03/16/1999
- 5. PAR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC., P.O. Box 160756, Sacramento, CA 95816-0756.
- 6. Detail of a typical original loading bay door; view looking south of the original door on the west side of the Freight Depot.





